Templates That Induce α -Helical, β -Sheet, and Loop Conformations

Joel P. Schneider and Jeffery W. Kelly*

Department of Chemistry, Texas A&M University, College Station, Texas 77843-3255

Received March 15, 1995 (Revised Manuscript Received May 31, 1995)

Contents

١.	Introduction	2169
II.	Templates That Induce α -Helical Folding	2170
	A. Porphyrin Templates	2170
	B. Aminodiacetic Acid-Based Amino Acids	2171
	C. Pyridine- and Bipyridine-Based Templates	2172
	D. Template-Assembled Synthetic Protein Approach	2175
	E. Nucleating Helix Mimics	2177
III.	Templates That Induce β -Sheet Folding	2179
	A. Nucleating Strand Mimics	2179
	B. Nucleating Turn Mimics	2181
IV.	Templates That Induce Other Types of Structures	2185
	A. Olson Ω-Loop	2185
V.	Conclusions and Perspectives	2186
VI.	References	2186

I. Introduction

Polypeptides composed of 30 amino acid residues or less typically do not adopt well-defined conformations in aqueous solution; rather they adopt an ensemble of energetically similar conformations. The small free energy difference (3-15 kcal/mol) that stabilizes the folded state of a native protein over the unfolded state is difficult to achieve in a small polypeptide as the difference in free energy between the folded and unfolded state is derived from the difference between two large numbers representing entropic and enthalpic contributions from both the solvent and the polypeptide chain.¹ Since the magnitude of the electrostatic interactions (hydrogen bonding, salt bridges, etc.) and the hydrophobic interactions are context dependent, it is very difficult to design a polypeptide whose thermodynamic stability can be predicted empirically. Although there are a number of elegant examples of de novo protein design, it is fair to characterize this undertaking as quite challenging and risky, especially for folds other than predominantly α -helical folds. The work reviewed within demonstrates that it is possible to prepare relatively small peptides that are biased toward adopting the desired conformation owing to the incorporation of a single unnatural amino acid residue or template.

This review surveys what is currently state of the art in the use of peptidomimetic templates to propagate common protein structural motifs in predominantly α -amino acid sequences. The use of templates to nucleate or propagate a certain conformation from an ordered region (template) through a disordered region (α -amino acid-based portion) to form α -helices



Joel Schneider is a graduate student in Chemistry at Texas A&M University. Joel was born in Massillon, OH, and received his undergraduate degree from the University of Akron where he was recognized as a University Scholar. He will receive his Ph.D in the spring of 1995 and will continue research in the area of protein design as a postdoctoral researcher with William F. DeGrado.



Jeff Kelly is an Associate Professor of Chemistry at Texas A&M University. He was born in Medina, NY, and received a B.S. degree from the State University of New York, College at Fredonia in 1982, and a Ph.D from the University of North Carolina in 1986. Jeff then spent three years at the Rockefeller University where he was an NIH postdoctoral fellow with the late E. T. Kaiser and then in 1989 moved to Texas A&M University. During his tenure at A&M he has been recognized as a Searle Scholar and a Camille Dreyfus Scholar. His research interests are centered in bioorganic chemistry and biochemistry of peptides and proteins and include the design and synthesis of unnatural amino acids to control folding in small peptides, elucidation of the biophysical mechanism(s) of human amyloid disease and the development of chimeric self-assembling peptide materials.

and β -sheet structures has proven to be a viable method for achieving folding in the absence of a detailed understanding of how to design a linear sequence that will spontaneously fold. The chain entropy penalty associated with the folding of a linear peptide chain can be decreased by lowering the conformational entropy of the unfolded state through the incorporation of conformationally restricted templates. The templates described within typically transmit their conformational preferences to the peptide chain by hydrogen bonding or by a combination of hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic interactions to nucleate the desired structure. The concept of introducing a conformationally rigid molecule into a peptide to stabilize a single bioactive conformation was first demonstrated by Hirschmann and his colleagues at Merck.^{2,3} This review will focus on examples of templates that nucleate the formation of α -helical, β -sheet, and Ω -loop structures. We will not include work on β -turn mimics which are designed to position peptide-like side chains in the proper spatial orientation for recognition by proteins or receptors, as this work has been amply reviewed.⁴⁻⁹

II. Templates That Induce α-Helical Folding

A. Porphyrin Templates

Startling progress has been made in the *de novo* design of predominantly α -helical proteins composed exclusively of α -amino acid sequences over the past 10 years in the laboratories of Baldwin, DeGrado, Hamilton, Kaiser, Kallenbach, Kemp, Kim, Rose, Schultz, and Taylor among others.^{10–28} However, it is still nontrivial to design a predominantly α -helical protein from first principles using the full complement of natural amino acids. Hampered by the difficulties associated with predicting the folded structure of a polypeptide from its primary sequence, several laboratories have incorporated templates into α -amino acid sequences in an effort to achieve a desired tertiary fold.

Kaiser and Sasaki utilized the tetrasubstituted coproporphyrin shown below as a template to direct the folding of attached amphiphilic peptides, affording a four helix bundle they named "helichrome".²⁹



The four propanoic acid linkers on the porphyrin were coupled to the terminal amino groups of identical amphiphilic peptides employing a segment condensation reaction which afforded the templated helical bundle (Figure 1).³⁰ The synthetic protein "helichrome" was designed to mimic the hydroxylase activity of cytochrome P-450, whose porphyrin-based active site is surrounded by several α -helices which serve as a hydrophobic substrate binding pocket. The sequence of the peptides in the helichrome was chosen such that the folded structure has a hydrophobic pocket or cavity near the base of the porphyrin as depicted in Figure 1. This pocket which is



b) + AEQLLQEAEQLLQEL-CONH₂

Figure 1. (a) A synthetic enzyme or "helichrome" consisting of an Fe(III)-coproporphyrin template which directs the folding of attached peptide strands resulting in a fourhelix bundle and (b) the amphiphilic sequence of the attached peptides allows for the formation of a hydrophobic pocket responsible for the binding of substrate.

proximal to the porphyrin serves as the binding site for substrates of the hydroxylase reaction.

Circular dichroism (CD) studies reveal that the helichrome contains a predominantly α -helical structure at pH 7.5 in aqueous phosphate buffer, whereas the isolated peptide segments adopt an ensemble of random conformations under identical conditions. strongly suggesting that the coproporphyrin is responsible for the formation and stabilization of the four-helix bundle. Gel filtration and analytical equilibrium ultracentrifugation experiments under identical conditions indicate that the helichrome exists as a monomeric helix bundle in aqueous solution. The α -helical bundle structure observed by CD results from intramolecular folding of the attached peptide strands facilitated by the coproporphyrin which presumably reduces the chain entropy penalty of folding. The stability of helichrome has been accessed by monitoring the guanidine hydrochlorideinitiated unfolding transition of the four-helix bundle by CD spectroscopy. The resulting denaturation curve yielded a free energy of stabilization of the folded state over the unfolded state, i.e. ΔG_{HoO} of -4.4 kcal/mol and a sensitivity of the free energy difference to urea concentration, i.e. m value of 0.84 kcal mol^{-1} M⁻¹, which are consistent with parameters from other previously reported a-amino acid-based four-helix bundles.³¹

The ability of the Fe(III)-helichrome complex to function as an effective aniline hydroxylase was tested by monitoring the formation of *p*-aminophenol as a function of the concentration of the aniline substrate. The assay, performed in the presence of fixed 7-acetylflavin and NADPH concentrations at pH 7.0 yielded a k_{cat} of 0.02 min⁻¹ and a K_m of 5.0 mM, values which are similar to those of natural hemeproteins such as hemoglobin which possess this activity.^{32,33} An Fe(III) complex of the isolated coproporphyrin showed no catalytic activity under identical conditions, suggesting that the rigid hydrophobic pocket formed by the peptide portion of the



Figure 2. (a) Structure of the tetraphenylporphyrin template used to direct the folding of attached peptide strands into a four-helix bundle and (b) sequence of peptides appended to the ortho, meta, and para positions of the four phenyl functionalities affording tetraphilins 1-4.

helichrome is essential for catalytic activity. The chemical mechanism of the helichrome's catalytic activity has not been studied in detail.

Tetraphenylporphyrins have also been employed to direct the folding of amphiphilic peptides into fourhelix bundles, which were designed to insert into membranes and serve as ion channels. DeGrado and co-workers have functionalized the meta position of the phenyl groups in the tetraphenylporphyrin shown in Figure 2 with amphiphilic peptides resulting in tetraphilins 1 and 2.34 Meta substitution provides optimal interhelical spacing for ion transport. The sequence of the α -amino acid portion of tetraphilin (1) is based on model peptides developed by DeGrado and co-workers which self-assemble into protonselective ion channels in membranes. However, tetraphilin (1) exhibited low solubility in 1 M HCl and was not suitable for evaluation as an ion channel. Replacement of three leucine residues in the peptide portion of tetraphilin (1) with less hydrophobic aminoisobutyric acid residues affords soluble tetraphilin 2 which forms proton-selective ion channels in diphytanoylphosphatidylcholine bilayers. Tetraphilin 2 displays a primary conductance state of 470 pS and secondary states of 320 and 100 pS. It is interesting that the lifetime of the conductance state of porphyrin-constrained tetraphilin 2 (5 ms) is considerably longer than that of previously studied unconstrained peptides (<0.2 ms) composed of similar sequences.³⁵ The authors suggest that the porphyrin template stabilizes the conducting state of the attached peptides, i.e. the four-helix bundle state in the membrane.

Nishino, Mihara, and co-workers also employed a tetraphenylporphyrin template in the synthesis of a four-helix bundle designed to penetrate lipid bilayers, Figure 2.³⁶ Amphiphilic peptide strands were attached to the ortho and para positions of a tetraphenyl-substituted porphyrin ring resulting in tetraphilins **3** and **4**, respectively. Tetraphilin **3** displays a concentration-independent (CD) spectra in methanol indicative of a monomeric α -helical structure, sug-

gesting that the porphyrin efficiently directs the intramolecular folding of the attached peptide strands resulting in the desired four-helix bundle. Tetraphilin 4 also forms a helical structure as discerned by CD; however, the helical signal is concentration dependent suggesting that the amphiphilic helical segments are associating intermolecularly. Apparently, attachment of the strands at the para positions of the tetraphenylporphyrin template results in a tetraphilin that is unable to exclusively fold intramolecularly or undergoes self assembly after folding. The CD spectra of tetraphilin 3 in the presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate micelles and dipalmitovlphosphatidylcholine vesicles indicates that this templated protein retains its α -helical character suggesting that it is capable of penetrating lipid bilayers without significant structural perturbation.

B. Aminodiacetic Acid-Based Amino Acids

Another useful strategy for achieving folding in a relatively short polypeptide sequence employs metal complexation to stabilize the desired structure. Metal binding sites have been engineered into polypeptides using the side chains of naturally occurring amino acids (His, Cys) as ligands.³⁷⁻⁴⁵ For example, α -helical secondary structures have been stabilized through the formation of a metal-mediated cross-link employing the side chains of histidine or cysteine residues located at the *i* and i + 4 positions of an α -helix as demonstrated by Arnold and Ghadiri.⁴⁶⁻⁵⁰ In addition, DeGrado and Berg have studied the metalmediated formation of tertiary and quaternary structure in peptides and proteins using engineered metalbinding sites.^{24,51-56} In keeping with the focus of this section we will outline those examples involving unnatural amino acids or templates which bind to transition metal ions and stabilize helical structures.

Sasaki and Hopkins have stabilized, and in some cases, directed the folding of peptides into an α -helical secondary structure by incorporating unnatural amino acids into the polypeptide sequence which serve as metal-binding ligands.^{57,58} Kinetically labile metal-mediated cross-links are formed by complexing transition metals to two nonnatural aminodiacetic acid residues that are strategically incorporated into the peptide sequence. The formation of a metallo cross-link should facilitate the folding of an unordered peptide by lowering the conformational entropy of the unordered state and/or by stabilizing the folded conformation over the unfolded peptide (Figure 3a). Aminodiacetic acid side chains were chosen as the ligands because of their ability to bind many different transition metals with high affinity. By varying the structure of the aminodiacetic acid functionality, the distance between the peptide backbone and the metal binding site can be adjusted (Figure 3b).

The equilibrium between the unfolded polypeptide chain and the folded helix depends on the placement of the metal binding amino acids, their structure, and the metal used for complexation. The metal-binding amino acids were incorporated into a number of peptide sequences shown in Figure 3c. The sequences were designed to display helical structure in the absence of metal so that small conformational changes realized upon the addition of metal could be



Figure 3. (a) Metal-mediated formation of an α -helix from a random coil (metal binding is thought to lower the entropy of the unordered state shifting the equilibrium towards the folded helix), (b) aminodiacetic acid residue responsible for metal binding (the distance between the metal binding site and the peptide backbone can be adjusted by varying the number (*n*) of methylene units) and (c) peptides incorporating the ligating residue (L) at either the *i* and *i* + 3 or the *i* and *i* + 4 positions of a helical turn.

easily detected. In peptides A-D, two metal binding residues of varying structure are placed in what would be the *i* and i + 3 positions of the folded helix, whereas in peptides $\mathbf{E}-\mathbf{I}$ the ligating residues are placed at the *i* and i + 4 positions. These spacings were evaluated because the typical α -helix contains 3.6 residues per turn.⁵⁹ Several ions [Co(II), Ni(II), Cu(II), Zn(II), and Cd(II)] were tested with regard to their ability to form a cross-link which stabilizes the helix conformation. Several peptide/metal ion combinations yielded a stabilized a-helical conformation: peptide $\mathbf{G} + Cu(II)$, $\mathbf{E} + Cd(II)$, $\mathbf{B} + Cu(II)$, and \mathbf{F} + $\tilde{\mathrm{Co}}(\mathrm{II})$. Interestingly, the addition of Ni(II) to peptide A actually destabilized the existing helical structure. CD studies of control peptides with both ligating residues replaced with noncoordinating residues in the sequence, show that the addition of transition metal has little effect on the preexisting helix-coil equilibrium. In studies on peptides containing only one ligating residue, the addition of transition metal actually destabilizes the preexisting helical structure. These results indicate that the helix stabilization observed for the peptide/metal ion combinations discussed above is a result of metalmediated conformational restriction as depicted in Figure 3a. In the most dramatic case, peptide I undergoes a random coil to helix transition upon the addition of Cd(II), indicating that peptides with little propensity to fold can be stabilized in a helical conformation by the addition of the appropriate metal ion. The metal-mediated formation of protein-like structure is not limited to the construction of small helical motifs but has evolved into an elegant approach applicable to the design of larger synthetic proteins.

C. Pyridine- and Bipyridine-Based Templates

Ghadiri and co-workers have demonstrated that unnatural pyridine-based metal binding amino acid residues can be incorporated into an α -amino acid sequence to direct the folding of a four-helix bundle structure.⁶⁰ Amphiphilic peptide strands functionalized at their N-terminus with pyridyl functionalities were designed to fold into a water-soluble fourhelix bundle complex upon Ru(II) complexation resulting in the exchange-inert metalloprotein shown in Figure 4. The major driving force for the folding of the four-helix bundle structure is proposed to be favorable interhelical hydrophobic interactions gained upon folding. The binding energy derived from the ruthenium complexation event should also contribute to the folding, but to a lesser extent. The complexation of Ru(II) to the peptides was established by UV spectroscopy as well as by atomic absorption spectroscopy. The molecular weight of the resulting metalloprotein was estimated by size exclusion chromatography and shown definitively by electrospray mass spectroscopy to be the desired four-helix bundle metalloprotein.

Circular dichroism spectroscopy reveals that the metalloprotein's structure is highly α -helical and concentration independent, suggesting that the CD signal is a result of intramolecular formation of a monomeric four-helix bundle and not due to intermolecular association of helical bundles with undefined aggregation states. Guanidine hydrochloride denaturation studies employing CD as the spectroscopic probe resulted in the following thermodynamic values: $\Delta G_{\rm H_2O} = 5.6$ kcal/mol, and m = 1025 cal mol⁻¹ M⁻¹, indicating that the stability of the met-



Figure 4. Complexation of four pyridine-functionalized amphiphilic peptides to exchange inert Ru(II) affords a 60-residue four-helix bundle ruthenium-metalloprotein. The sequence of the pyridine-functionalized peptide is also shown.



Chemical Reviews, 1995, Vol. 95, No. 6 2173



Figure 6. The complexation of Fe(II) to three bipyridinefunctionalized peptide strands results in a three-helix bundle consisting of four possible energetically similar stereoisomers.

is the case in native proteins. Metal binding clearly plays a crucial role in controlling the number of helices forming the helix bundle and likely contributes to the free energy of folding by lowering the entropic penalties associated with the folding process.

Sasaki has shown that the bipyridine-functionalized peptides can adopt four possible stereoisomers about the iron atom denoted as fac- \wedge , fac- \triangle , mer- \wedge , and mer- \triangle in a 9.5:17:43:29 isomeric ratio, respectively (Figure 6).⁶³ Separation of these stereoisomers by RP-HPLC allows subsequent characterization of each isomer by NMR and CD spectroscopy. The spectroscopic data indicates that each isomer contains a high degree of α -helical structure. Isolated isomers are able to slowly interconvert to an equilibrium mixture of all isomeric forms within a few hours. The authors conclude that each isomer is energetically similar and that this multiple collection of conformers resembles the molten globule state of a protein where the secondary structural elements are defined and the hydrophobic regions are interacting but are not packed into well-defined structure.⁶⁴

Ghadiri and co-workers reported the complexation of bipyridine-functionalized amphiphilic peptides to Ni(II), Co(II), and exchange inert Ru(II) resulting in the folding of a stable 45-residue parallel three-helix bundle (Figure 5).⁶¹ Size exclusion chromatography data is consistent with the formation of a trimer which does not self-associate. While the kinetically labile Ni(II) and Co(II) complexes could not be detected by FAB-MS, the kinetically inert Ru(II) trimer complex was amenable to observation by mass spectrometry. The use of kinetically inert complexes was a creative advance that facilitated more rigorous characterization of these complexes. The CD spectrum of an aqueous solution of the bipyridinefunctionalized peptide (Figure 5c) at pH 6.4 in the absence of transition metal was consistent with partial helical structure. However, upon addition of

Figure 5. (a) Metal-assisted folding of bipyridine-functionalized peptide strands into a three-helix bundle metalloprotein (solid arcs represent the bipyridine-ligand portion of the peptides) and (b and c) sequence of the bipyridine-functionalized amphiphilic peptide strands along with the corresponding metal ion used for complexation.

alloprotein is comparable to other synthetic four-helix bundles such as the coproporphyrin-stabilized helichrome discussed above.

The formation of helical bundles via metal-mediated templating offers a viable method for controlling the aggregation state as well as for specifying the spatial arrangement of the helices. Three-helix bundles can be synthesized by metal complexation of peptides functionalized at their N-terminus with a bipyridine skeleton (Figure 5). Three bipyridinefunctionalized peptides fulfill the octahedral coordination geometry of an appropriate metal, forming a stable complex and limiting the number of peptides composing the bundle. An example of this methodology was demonstrated simultaneously by the Ghadiri and Sasaki laboratories.^{61,62} Sasaki and co-workers functionalized the 2,2'-bipyridine skeleton at the 4-position with an α -amino acid sequence resulting in the amphiphilic bipyridine-functionalized peptide shown in Figure 5b.⁶² Complexation of the resulting bipyridine-functionalized peptide to Fe(II) affords a parallel three-helix bundle metalloprotein which does not self-associate as discerned by gel filtration chromatography. CD spectroscopy reveals that the uncomplexed bipyridine-functionalized peptide exists in a partial α -helical conformation. However, the helicity content increases by 50% upon addition of Fe-(II) indicating that the tris-bipyridine complex is an efficient template for three-helix bundle formation in aqueous solution. The ability of the trisbipyridine template to direct the folding of peptides into stable three-helix bundles is highly sequence dependent. Changing the leucine residues composing the hydrophobic core of the bundle to less hydrophobic residues such as alanine, glutamine, or serine results in a significant decrease in α -helical content. This result suggests that the main driving force for folding is derived from interhelical hydrophobic interactions as



L = Histidine

Figure 7. (a) The Ru(II)-directed folding of a three-helix bundle resulting in the formation of a moderate affinity type II copper binding site, and (b) the sequence of the bipyridine-functionalized amphiphilic peptide strand which contains a copper-binding histidine residue near the carboxy terminus.

transition metal ions, the CD signal increased by 40%, indicating that metal binding stabilizes the peptides in the desired three-helix bundle structure.

Metal-directed folding has also proven effective for the construction of binding sites in synthetic proteins. Ghadiri demonstrated that it is possible to construct a type II copper binding site in a synthetic protein by elaborating on the three-helix bundle Ru(II)metalloprotein described above (Figure 7a).65 A histidine residue was introduced into the sequence of the bipvridine-functionalized peptide near the C-terminus shown in Figure 7b. Histidine residues are commonly found in natural copper-containing proteins and coordinate Cu(II) through their imidazole side chains.⁶⁶ A tyrosine residue was also incorporated into the peptide sequence adjacent to the histidine as a spectroscopic probe to monitor Cu-(II) binding. The fluorescence of tyrosine is known to be quenched efficiently by bound copper in a distance-dependent fashion. Ruthenium complexation by the bipyridine functionalities occurs with high chemoselectivity resulting in the formation of an exchange inert Ru(II)-three-helix bundle metalloprotein. Due to the metal-mediated folding process, the three histidines are positioned such that a moderate affinity type-II copper binding site is created at the C-terminus of the parallel helix bundle (Figure 7a). By monitoring the quenching of tyrosine fluorescence as a function of added copper, the authors conclude that the Ru(II)-templated metalloprotein is capable of binding Cu(II) with an apparent $K_{\rm d}$ of 0.30 μ M. Electrospray mass spectroscopy provides additional evidence for the formation of the desired heterodinuclear metalloprotein. A variant Ru(II)-metalloprotein where the histidine residues are replaced with alanine residues was prepared as a control to demonstrate that the quenching of tyrosine fluorescence is a result of copper binding.



Figure 8. (a) Two-helix bundle formation facilitated by a bipyridine-based template, (b) amphiphilic sequence of the attached peptide, incorporating a 1-pyrenylalanine-based (Pya) residue, and (c) chemical structure of the Pya spectroscopic probe used to investigate the three-dimensional structure of the two-helix bundle.

The helicity of the copper-free Ru(II)-metalloprotein does not increase upon the addition of Cu(II) as discerned by CD spectroscopy. This suggests that the Ru(II)-metalloprotein provides a preorganized Cu-(II) binding site, which according to UV-vis and EPR data, is capable of accommodating Cu(II) ions in either a square planar or tetragonal geometry. As an added bonus, guanidine hydrochloride denaturation experiments suggest that the structural stability of the Ru(II)-metalloprotein is further enhanced upon Cu(II) binding. The $\Delta G_{\text{H}_2\text{O}}$ of the heterodimer metalloprotein is 3.5 kcal mol⁻¹, which is 1.5 kcal mol^{-1} greater than the copper-free Ru(II)-metalloprotein. This enhancement is presumably a result of the three-helix bundle being constrained at both its N-terminus by exchange inert Ru(II) complexation and at its C-terminus by exchange labile Cu(II) ion.

Nishino and co-workers have taken advantage of a bipyridine-based template functionalized at the 4and 4'-positions with amphiphilic peptides to direct the folding of a two-helix bundle as depicted in Figure 8a.⁶⁷ In addition to the incorporation of the bipyridine-based residue, the α -helical sequence (Figure 8b) also incorporates a 1-pyrenylalanine residue (Figure 8c) which is used to report on the three-dimensional structure of the resulting two-helix bundle using circular dichroism and fluorescence spectroscopy. The far-UV CD spectra of the two-helix bundle in water is indicative of a helical structure. The near-UV CD signal resulting from the interacting pyrene functionalities suggest that these chromophores are packed in the interior of the helical bundle in close proximity to one another. The fluorescence data also show that the two-helix bundle is denatured upon addition of methanol. The authors suggest that in aqueous solution, the bipyridine-based template directs the folding of the attached peptides such that a two-helix bundle is formed intramolecularly where the individual helixes are arranged together with a right handed twist, exhibiting an angle between the helices of $\sim 20^{\circ}$.

An extension of this approach leads to the supersecondary structure depicted in Figure 9a, which was designed to penetrate lipid bilayers and act as an electron-transport system.⁶⁸ This supersecondary structure incorporates a potential photoinduced electron transfer triad composed of a ruthenium complex, an anthraquinone side chain (Figure 9b, c), and a viologen group. The CD spectra of this electron transfer synthetic protein in methanol and in sodium



Figure 9. (a) A two-helix bundle whose folding is directed by a ruthenium-trisbipyridine complex (the structure incorporates a photo-induced electron-transfer triad consisting of a ruthenium complex, anthraquinone, and viologen functionalities), (b) the amphiphilic sequence, containing an anthraquinone-functionalized ornithine, designed to penetrate lipid bilayers, and (c) chemical structure of the anthraquinone-functionalized ornithine.

dodecyl sulfate micelles is indicative of an α -helical structure. The synthetic protein was introduced into egg yolk lecithin vesicles for subsequent conformational and electron transport studies. Circular dichroism studies indicate that the structure of the synthetic protein embedded in lecithin vesicles is nonhelical and electron transport studies show that it is not an effective electron transport system, which is likely to be a result of its undefined conformation in the lipid bilayer.

D. Template-Assembled Synthetic Protein Approach

Another method for lowering the conformational entropy of the unordered state relative to the folded state of the desired structure involves using small cyclic and acyclic peptides as templates for assembling supersecondary and tertiary structures. Mutter and co-workers have shown that the folding of unordered peptide strands into a desired supersecondary structure can be accomplished by attaching peptide sequences to cyclic and acyclic templates through the side chains of the template.^{69–74} The template-assembled synthetic protein (TASP) approach has been used to construct several related helical structures. The formation of a four-helix bundle depicted in Figure 10 is one example of the utility of this approach.

A common feature of the templates utilized in the TASP approach is the incorporation of lysine residues in the template sequence. Peptides are typically covalently attached at their carboxy termini to the ϵ -amino groups of lysine residues in the template (Figures 10 and 11). Acyclic peptide-based templates containing a -Pro-Gly- dipeptide fragment are proposed to exist in a low-energy β -hairpin conformation



Figure 10. Schematic representation of a templateassembled synthetic protein (TASP). In this case, the folding of a four-helix bundle is directed via the attachment of four amphiphilic peptides to an acyclic peptide-based template. The peptides are covalently attached at their carboxy terminus to the ϵ nitrogens of template lysine side chains.

with the -Pro-Gly- fragment serving as the i + 1 and i + 2 residues of a type II β -turn.⁷⁵⁻⁷⁸ The structure of the template as depicted in Figure 10 positions the lysine side chains perpendicular to the plane of the template and is expected to preorganize the structure to direct the folding of attached peptide sequences. In an effort to further constrain the conformational mobility of the template, cyclic peptide-based templates were synthesized which incorporate disulfide bonds⁷⁹⁻⁸³ as well as conformationally restricted nonnatural amino acids.⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶ It has been shown that four-helix bundles resulting from conformationally constrained cyclic templates are more stable than those resulting from acyclic templates.⁸⁷ The molecular weight of these TASP assembled proteins has been confirmed by size exclusion chromatography and in some cases plasma desorption and laser desorption mass spectroscopy. Circular dichroism spectroscopy along with a limited amount of NMR spectroscopy has been used to demonstrate the structural integrity of these template-assembled synthetic proteins.

Tomich and Montal have used the TASP approach to synthesize synthetic pore proteins (synporins) by attaching four 23-residue peptides to an acyclic template (Figure 11, template 3).78,88 The sequence of these four peptides, -EKMSTAISVLLANAV-FLLLTSNR-, is based on a segment of the Torpedo *californica* acetylcholine receptor (AcChoR) δ subunit. AcChoR is a pentamer composed of four glycoprotein subunits $(\alpha_2\beta_\gamma\delta)$ which forms a ligand-activated transmembrane cation channel. A 23-residue segment of the δ subunit alone (sequence shown above) is capable of forming cation-selective channels in lipid bilayers via the putative self-assembly of conductive oligomers. However, controlling the aggregation state of the peptides which is essential in the formation of discrete conductive oligomers is difficult. By appending four of these peptide segments to a template, Tomich and Montal can effectively control the aggregation number of the peptide segments

Template	Sequence attached to template	Structural Type	Reference
R1 R2	$R_1 = AELE-Aib-LEA-Aib-LAE-Ac \\ R_2 = VTVTVT-Ac$	}-sheet / Helix	69, 70
R, R, R, R, R, C, R, R, 2. Ac-Lys-Lys-Po-Gly-Lys-OH	a) R ₁ = GLKK-Aib-AN-Aib-AAT-Aib-AD-NH ₂ b) R ₁ = LKKLANALATAAD-NH ₂	4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle	80 68, 69
R, R, R, B, Sourtys-Courtys-Gurtys-Giy-OH	a) $R_1 = RQSTILLFVAQALLVSIATSMKE-NH_2b) R_1 = RQSTILLFVAQALLVAIATSMKE-NH_2c) R_1 = PFALSALFSILVCPTIFNIVYFL-NH_2d) R_1 = ESLJVDIISGIVILFDFVNWPD-NH_2c) R_1 = KGFMQMGIVAYIFFLMVILLAVY-NH_2$	4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle	71 71 81 81
4. Ac-Cys-Lys-Ala-Lys-Pro-Gly-Lys-Ala-Lys-Cys-NH2	a) $R_1=R_2 = GLKALAEKLAKELAE-NH_2$ b) $R_1 = GLKALAEKLAKELAEL-NH_2$ $R_2 = GLEAMAKEFAEKLAKL-NH_2$ c) $R_1=R_2 = GLKALAEKLAKRLAKELAELLE-NH_2$ d) $R_1=R_2 = GTQLLAKAKRTAGDLLE-Ac$	4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle 4-Helix Bundle	74, 75, 76 73, 76 75 72, 73
5.	R1 = GLKK-Aib-AN-Aib-AAT-Aib-AD-NH2	4-Helix Bundle	8
6.	R1 = GLKK-Aib-AN-Aib-AAT-Aib-AD-NH2	4-Helix Bundle	73, 77, 79, 80

Figure 11. Acyclic and cyclic peptide-based templates where the lysine attachment sites are shown in bold. Also, the sequences of attached peptide strands are shown

along with the resulting supersecondary structure after template-assisted folding takes place (sequences are written left to right from the carboxy to amino terminus).

Templates That Induce α -Helical, β -Sheet, and Loop Conformations

forming the cation selective channel. The resulting 101 residue synporin composed of an acyclic TASP peptide forms a four-helix bundle that inserts into lipid bilayers to form an ion channel that is specific for cations. Transitions between the closed and open states occur on the millisecond time scale. A derivative of the local anesthetic lidocaine (Qx-222) was shown to block the flow of current through the synporin, just as it does with native AcCohR channels.⁷⁸

E. Nucleating Helix Mimics

The α-helical-promoting templates discussed thus far have mainly been used to control the aggregation state of helical bundles. The isolated amphiphilic peptides attached to these templates have a propensity to self-assemble into helical bundles and usually adopt a helical bundle structure in the absence of the template. The templates do contribute to the folding free energy changes in that they lower the conformational entropy of the unordered state; however, self-assembly of the amphiphilic structures provides a significant driving force for folding owing to the hydrophobic effect. Kemp and co-workers have developed a novel helix nucleator which promotes the folding of an attached polypeptide sequence affording a monomeric α -helix in aqueous solution.⁷ The Kemp N-terminal helix template (5) based on (2S, 5S, 8S, 8S)11S)-1-acetyl-1,4-diaza-3-keto-5-carboxy-10-thiatricyclo[2.8.1.0]tridecane has proven useful to evaluate the Zimm-Bragg parameters which characterize helix propagation.89,90



Template 5, when covalently attached to the Nterminus of a peptide sequence operates as an α -helical nucleator by positioning its three carbonyl functionalities in an orientation mimicking the pitch and spacing of a right-handed α -helix.^{91,92} The oriented carbonyl groups of the template are capable of forming hydrogen bonds with the amide NH protons of the attached α -amino acid sequence (Figure 12). The capacity of template 5 to function is dependent on its ability to adopt a nucleation-competent conformation in aqueous solution. NMR studies indicate that 5 can exist in four possible conformations (Figure 13).⁹³ A crystal structure of the free acid of 5 indicates that it adopts a conformation in the solid state in which the acetamide group is in a cis conformation (c) and the sulfur atom is in an "up" orientation (s) relative to the template molecule affording the (cs) conformer. This conformer is incapable of propagating helix structure because the acetamide carbonyl is unavailable for hydrogen bonding to the attached peptide sequence. Also, conformational analysis by NMR in CDCl₃ shows that 5



Figure 12. A template **5** nucleated α -helix where the template is in a nucleation-competent conformation with the orientation of its three carbonyl groups mimicking the pitch and spacing of those found in a right-handed α -helix. These carbonyls serve as hydrogen-bond acceptors for the amide protons of the attached peptide strand.



Figure 13. The four possible conformations of template 5 in aqueous solution. The (cs) conformer which is unable to nucleate helical structure, due to the cis orientation of the acetamide carbonyl, is in slow equilibrium with the (ts) conformer which is also unable to support structure. However, the (ts) conformer is in fast equilibrium with the (te) conformer, where the carbonyls are positioned such that hydrogen bonds can form with the amide protons of an attached peptide strand therefore nucleating helix formation. The (ce) conformer has not been detected and would be expected to be nonnucleating since the acetamide carbonyl is in a cis orientation.

exists in the (cs) conformation, but in other solvents such as DMF, a slow equilibrium on the NMR time scale exists between the (cs) and the (ts) conformers. These conformers are identical except that the acetamide group is now in a trans orientation. The authors indicate that the (ts) conformer is also incapable of propagating helix formation because the carbonyls are not properly arranged to form stable hydrogen bonds with the attached peptide (not evident from the figure). However, the (ts) conformer is in rapid equilibrium on the NMR time scale with the (te) conformer. In this conformation, the acetamide group is in a trans orientation (t) and the sulfur atom is in a down position (e) relative to the template molecule affording the (te) conformer. Molecular mechanics suggests that the (te) conformer is slightly less stable than the (ts) conformer. However, the carbonyls are positioned such that stable hydrogen bonds can form with the amide protons of an attached peptide strand resulting in the formation of helical structure. The (ce) conformer (Figure 13), which has not been observed, would be incapable of helix propagation due to the cis orientation of the acetamide functionality.

Template 5 when appended to peptide strands not only provides a structural framework capable of propagating helix structure, but also serves as a spectroscopic reporter of helix formation. The detection of helical structure can be accomplished in two ways: (1) Since both cis conformers [i.e. (cs) and (ce)] are unable to support helical structure and only the trans (te) conformer nucleates helix formation, the (trans/cis) ratio of 5 should be directly proportional to the extent of helix formation. This ratio is determined by monitoring the relative shifts of the protons located at C-12 which are influenced by the orientation of the acetamide functionality (Figure 13). (2) The shift in equilibrium between the trans nonhelical (ts) and helical (te) conformers can be detected by monitoring the relative shifts of the C-9 and C-13 protons as well as changes in the vicinal coupling constant at the C-8,C-9 bond. In addition, when template 5 adopts primarily the (te) conformation, an NOE between a proton at C-13 and C-9-H_a is observed (Figure 13).

The (2S,5S,8S,11S)-1-acetyl-1,4-diaza-3-keto-5-carboxy-10-thiatricyclo[2.8.1.0]tridecane template was incorporated into the peptide derivatives $5-(L-Ala)_n$ -OtBu where n = 1-6 and **5**-Sar-(L-Ala)_n-OtBu where n = 1-4 (Sar is an abbreviation for sarcosine, i.e. N-methylglycine). NMR studies of $5-(L-Ala)_n-OtBu$ (n = 1-6) in CDCl₃ or CD₃CN indicate that the (trans/cis) ratio increases with increasing chain length which suggests a significant length dependence on helical stability. Also, NMR data demonstrates that under these conditions any 5 in which the acetamide group is in the trans orientation, exists primarily as the helical promoting (te) conformer. NMR studies of 5-Sar-(L-Ala)_n-OtBu (n = 1-4) in $CDCl_3$ indicate that there is no apparent length dependence on the (trans/cis) ratio with an increase in chain length and that template 5 is locked in the nonnucleating (cs) conformation. These results indicate that in nonpolar solvents, the ability of 5 to nucleate α -helical structure is dependent both on chain length and the amino acid at the templatehelix interface. Residues like Sar which do not have the capability to hydrogen bond to the template prevent template-induced nucleation. NMR studies of 5-(L-Ala)_n-OtBu (n = 1-6) in hydrogen-bonding solvents such as DMF and water, show that the (trans/cis) ratio is effected less by chain length and that the template never fully adopts either of the trans conformations [i.e. (ts) or (te)]. Also, any **5** in



Figure 14. A line drawing of a template-nucleated helix. The template is the (te) conformation and the nucleated helix adopts a structure described by the authors as a 3_{10} -a-helix hybrid where first two residues adjacent to template **5** forms a bifurcated hydrogen bond with the acetamide carbonyl.

which the acetamide group does adopt a trans conformation, exists mainly in the nonnucleating (ts) conformation.

The conformation of the peptide portion of these derivatives was investigated by solvent- and temperature-dependent NMR spectroscopy which indicate that under conditions where template **5** exists in the (cs) conformation, the attached peptide sequence adopts an ensemble of random coil states. However, intrahelical and interhelical template NOEs consistent with a template-nucleated helix structure are observed in $CDCl_3$ and DMSO when template 5 exists in the (te) conformation. The authors suggest that the conformation of the helix is best thought of as a hybrid of a 3_{10} and an α -helix where bifurcated hydrogen bonding exists between the acetamide carbonyl and the amide protons of the first two residues (Figure 14). This structural deviation from a classical α -helix is not unexpected in that structural variety within the helix motif is sometimes observed in helices composed of short sequences. The structural stability of the resulting nucleated-helices was also investigated by NMR and was found to be dependent on solvent conditions. In relatively nonpolar solvents such as $CDCl_3$ or CD_3CN , the helices were very stable and little conformational fraving was observed. However, in aprotic dipolar solvents such as DMF or DMSO, the helices formed are relatively unstable and mobile.

Classical equilibrium models for helix folding dictate that the folding of a peptide existing as an ensemble of random conformations into a structurally well-defined helix mainly involves two parameters.⁹⁴ The first is an initiation parameter, σ , which measures the difficulty in forming a nucleating-competent conformation capable of helix propagation. The second is a propagation parameter, (s), which is an equilibrium constant that measures the ease of adding an unordered residue to the growing helix. Earlier observations suggest that (s) is dependent on the relative strengths of hydrogen bonds formed between amide functional groups within the peptide and those formed between the residues and competing solvent molecules. The (s) values reported for residues in helical peptides have considerable variability in large part because this parameter can be influenced by the initiation parameter, σ . The initiation parameter, in turn, is thought to be dependent on the sequence of the amino acid residues defining the nucleation site. However, isolation of these two parameters is made possible through the use of template **5** and offers a unique opportunity to measure the true propagational propensities [(s) values] of individual amino acid residues.

Peptides derivatives incorporating **5** were synthesized to evaluate the (s) parameter for the amino acid alanine.⁹⁵ Peptides **5**-(L-Ala)_n-Lys-NH₂ (n = 3-8) and **5**-Gly-(L-Ala)_n-Lys-NH₂ (n = 2-8) were prepared incorporating a C-terminal lysine residue which aids in solubility and allows the experiments to be conducted in water. Both peptide derivatives show a length-dependent increase in helical structure as expected. Using classical helix-coil transition analysis, Kemp utilizes this length dependence to calculate (s) values for alanine. Analysis of both peptide derivatives yields an (s) value of 0.95, supporting earlier reports of 1.06 reported by Scheraga.⁹⁶

Satterthwait and co-workers have also developed a helix nucleator which promotes the folding of an attached polypeptide chain affording a monomeric α -helix in deuterated trifluoroethanol.⁹⁷ The following cyclic template



 $\label{eq:rescaled} Hydrazone-ethylene based cyclic template \\ R = -NH-L-alanine-(L-glutamic acid-\gamma-ethyl ester)_4-ethyl ester-NH_2$

is designed to mimic one turn of an α -helix and incorporates a hydrazone-ethylene bridge (N-N= $CH-CH_2-CH_2$) as a covalent replacement for a backbone hydrogen bond (N-H---O=CR-NH) between the *i* and i + 4 residues of an α -helix. Structural studies on the template alone employing NMR spectroscopy suggest that the template adopts a "relaxed helical turn" conformation where the carbonyl oxygen atoms are located on the same face of the template but lack the pitch of a naturally occurring α -helical turn. NMR studies on a pentapeptide attached to the template suggest that the template serves as a nucleation site for α -helix formation in the pentapeptide portion. However, further studies are needed to define the interactions between the attached peptide strand and the cyclic template as well as the conformation of the template when incorporated into a peptide sequence.

Bartlett and co-workers have reported four diastereomers of a hexahydroindol-4-one diacid template shown below which was designed as a hydrogenbonding scaffolding for the nucleation of α -helical structure in attached α -amino acid sequences.¹³⁴ Peptides are linked at their N-terminus via an amide bond to L-lactic acid which is attached to the carboxyl at position 3 of the template employing an ester linkage. The carboxylate at C-6, the carbonyl of the vinylogous amide and the ester carbonyl at C-3 are designed to mimic the pitch and orientation of three carbonyls in an α -helical conformation. In addition, the carboxylate at C-6 should electrostatically stabilize the helix by interacting with the helix dipole. The S,S diastereomer of the template induces approximately 50% helical character in the peptide -Glu-Ala-Leu-Ala-Lys-Ala-NH₂ linked as a C-3 ester through the L-lactic residue in aqueous solution at 0 °C as discerned by far-UV CD. High-resolution structural studies should provide further insight into the mechanism of helix induction.



a) (s-s) α-helical template b) intended conformation as α-helix template

III. Templates That Induce β -Sheet Folding

A. Nucleating Strand Mimics

Results from the literature indicate that consensus β -turn sequences and β -turn mimetics which promote chain reversal and intramolecular hydrogen bonding are not sufficient to nucleate β -sheet formation in sequences that are known to adopt β -sheet structure.98-103 These failures, while not definitive evidence, indicate that local conformational propensities are only part of what is required to achieve β -sheet folding. The folding of peptide fragments into β -sheet structure has been accomplished in our laboratory by using β -turn mimics which promote favorable hydrophobic interactions between the β -turn mimetic and the attached peptide strands in addition to promoting chain reversal and intramolecular hydrogen bonding.^{104,105} The hypothesis that tertiary interactions are also required for β -sheet formation is consistent with recent work from the Berg, Kim, and Regan laboratories which indicate that the thermodynamic propensity of a given residue to adopt a β -sheet structure is much more context dependent than analogous α -helical propensities.¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁹ This context dependence suggests that a β -sheet structure may be best thought of as having elements of both secondary and tertiary structure particularly in the case of sheets having complex topologies. In other words, long-range residue-residue side chain interactions appear to be much more important in sheet folding than in α -helix formation. Also, emerging protein biophysical data suggest that the folding of predominantly β -sheet proteins is slow relative to predominantly helical folds consistent with ratelimiting tertiary structure formation.98,110-15 Moreover, it is well established that intermolecular β -sheet formation is a common motif by which proteins form well-defined quaternary structures, further empha-

A. Ideally, Intramolecular Folding Preceeds Self-Association Affording a Homogenous β -Sheet Structure



B. Often Folding and Self-Association Have Comparable Rates Which Leads to a Heterogeneous β-Sheet



Figure 15. The folding of small peptides into structurally well-defined β -sheet motifs is often hampered by competitive intramolecular folding and self-assembly which leads to the formation of heterogenous high molecular weight β -sheet quaternary structures.

sizing the importance of long-range interactions in sheet formation. These observations suggest that helices and sheets fold differently. For the sake of this discussion we will refer to β -sheets as either tertiary or quaternary structures.

Model β -sheet systems have proven very difficult to prepare in part because their folding is complex and in part because they have a propensity to selfassociate into high molecular weight β -sheet quaternary structures (Figure 15). Therefore, the incorporation of a template into an α -amino acid sequence to induce intramolecular β -sheet folding is appealing. The utility of templates to nucleate β -sheet folding was first demonstrated by Kemp and his colleagues by incorporating an epindolidione skeleton into a nonapeptide sequence.^{116,117} Templates That Induce α -Helical, β -Sheet, and Loop Conformations



Epindolidione Skeleton

The rigid epindolidione template mimics the central strand of a β -sheet by appropriately orienting three hydrogen bonds to enforce an extended conformation on the attached peptide chains. The strandstrand side chain interactions which typically stabilize a β -sheet structure are not possible in this system due to the planarity of the epindolidione central strand mimic. To enhance the likelihood of β -sheet nucleation in the peptide chimera, the Kemp group also employed sequences such as Pro-D-Ala in the turn region proximal to the epindolidione skeleton to favor the reverse turn conformation. A chain reversal in this portion of the molecule is critical for β -sheet nucleation by the epindolidione skeleton. The attachment of α -amino acid sequences directly to the amino functional groups of the skeleton leads to the formation of a parallel β -sheet mimic (Figure 16). The Kemp group also demonstrated that antiparallel β -sheets models could be prepared by the incorporation of two urea moieties into the peptidomimetic (Figure 17).¹¹⁸ The parallel β -sheet model system proved to be monomeric in DMSO and adopts a welldefined β -sheet conformation as discerned from the



Figure 16. The attachment of peptide strands to the epindolidione amino groups affords a parallel β -sheet mimic. Sequences such as Pro-D-Ala are often incorporated proximal to the epindolidione skeleton in order to enforce a reverse turn conformation on the attached peptide which is critical for β -sheet formation.



Figure 17. The incorporation of two urea moieties (highlighted) into the peptide portion of the β -sheet mimetic affords an epindolidione-directed antiparallel β -sheet mimic.

temperature dependence of the amide NH chemical shifts, the ${}^{3}J_{CH_{\alpha}-NH}$ coupling constants which estimate the ϕ dihedral angle and the observation of NOEs characteristic of a β -sheet. This study demonstrates that the epindolidione strand mimic/ nucleator in combination with consensus β -turn sequences together are sufficient to achieve β -sheet folding in DMSO. The importance of both the turn sequence and the strand mimic supports the hypothesis that both local conformational propensities and long-range interactions are required for β -sheet nucleation. Kemp and co-workers have recently completed an extensive study on water-soluble epidolidione-tetrapeptide conjugates which adopt an antiparallel β -sheet conformation both in the solid state and in solution.¹¹⁹ This elegant work demonstrates that templated β -sheet nucleation is achievable and has set the stage for further developments in this area.

B. Nucleating Turn Mimics

Our laboratory has approached the challenge of achieving β -sheet folding in relatively small peptides using a strategy that is complementary to the Kemp approach. Instead of employing a β -strand mimic/ template as a nucleator, we have prepared a β -turn template that replaces the i + 1 and i + 2 residues of a β -turn. We have not attempted to prepare β -turn mimics which resemble authentic β -turns, instead we have concentrated on molecules that will reverse the peptide chain, promote intramolecular hydrogen bonding and mediate hydrophobic tertiary interactions which should promote β -sheet nucleation. The tertiary clustering of hydrophobic side chains during the early stages of protein folding (i.e. hydrophobic cluster formation) is emerging as one of the common themes by which a linear amino acid sequence can limit the large number of possible folding pathways to a few in order to ultimately arrive at the desired fold.^{120,121} Therefore, it is reasonable to expect that a conformationally rigid turn mimic would be able to function as a sheet nucleator provided that intramolecular interactions in addition to hydrogen bonding were employed to propagate the conformational bias of the nucleator to the attached α -amino acid sequence. The 4-(2-aminoethyl)-6-dibenzofuranpropionic acid residue (6) shown below was designed to facilitate intramolecular hydrogen bonding between the amides of the flanking α -amino acid residues:122-124



4-(2-aminoethyl)-6-dibenzofuranpropionic acid template (6)

In addition, this unnatural amino acid replacement for the i + 1 and i + 2 residues of a β -turn can adopt a conformation that promotes the formation of a hydrophobic cluster composed of the hydrophobic side



Figure 18. The 4-(2-aminoethyl)-6-dibenzofuranpropionic acid residue adopts a hydrophobic cluster conformation in aqueous solution where favorable hydrophobic interactions exist between the dibenzofuran skeleton and the hydrophobic side chains of the α -amino acid residues flanking the β -turn template: (a) Ball and stick representation of the hydrophobic cluster conformation clearly showing the perpendicular conformation of the ethyl fragments relative to the aromatic skeleton and (b) CPK representation of the hydrophobic cluster. Note that the van der Waals surfaces of the dibenzofuran skeleton and the flanking leucine residues pack tightly to form the cluster (protons have been left off the α -amino acid side chains for clarity).

chains of the flanking α -amino acids and the dibenzofuran skeleton.¹⁰⁴ The $-CH_2CH_2$ - fragment that attaches the amino and carboxyl functional groups to the dibenzofuran skeleton allows this residue to adopt a "perpendicular conformation" where the dibenzofuran skeleton is oriented orthogonally to the plane of the β -sheet defined by the hydrogen bonds between the attached α -amino acid residues. The "perpendicular conformation" adopted by residue **6** allows the side chains of flanking hydrophobic α -amino acids to interact with the dibenzofuran skeleton (Figure 18). This hydrogen-bonded hydrophobic cluster is sufficient to nucleate a wide variety of sequences to fold into a β -sheet (hairpin) conformation in aqueous solution.

Acyclic analogs of the cyclic peptide gramicidin S were studied initially because gramicidin S adopts a well-defined β -sheet structure in the portion of the sequence between the β -turns. Linear gramicidin S analogs are prepared conceptually by excising one of the two D-Phe-Pro dipeptide units (i.e. the i + 1 and i + 2 residues of a β -turn) and replacing the other D-Phe-Pro fragment with residue **6** (Figure 19).^{104,123}



Figure 19. Heptapeptides J-U incorporating the 4-(2aminoethyl)-6-dibenzofuranpropionic acid residue (6) are conceptually based on the antibiotic gramicidin S where one of the turn regions (D-Phe-Pro) is excised and the other is replaced with template 6; $\mathbf{R} = \alpha$ -amino acid side chain.

A series of linear heptapeptides incorporating the dibenzofuran-based residue were initially characterized by analytical equilibrium ultracentrifugation and by far- and near-UV circular dichroism spectroscopy. The heptapeptides are monomeric and exhibit far-UV CD spectra consistent with a mixture of random coil and β -sheet structure. Interestingly, those peptides which adopt a partial β -sheet structure by far-UV CD always exhibit a near-UV CD spectra implying that hydrophobic cluster formation is critical for a β -sheet structure nucleated by the dibenzofuran-based residue. In fact, it has been shown that residue **6** is capable of β -sheet nucleation only when flanked by hydrophobic amino acid residues (e.g. Val, Leu, Phe, etc.) or by a hydrophobic residue and a His residue having a charged imidazole side chain.¹²⁵ The His residue improves solubility and contributes to the stabilization of a nucleation competent cluster through a putative π -cation-like interaction. NMR studies show that the diastereotopic methyl groups on the flanking Val and Leu residues are shifted significantly upfield due to their placement in the ring current of the dibenzofuran skeleton in the hydrophobic cluster. In addition, characteristic NOEs are observed between the protons of the flanking α -amino acid side chains and the aromatic protons on dibenzofuran skeleton composing the hydrophobic cluster. NMR characterization of heptapeptide K in acetate buffer at pH 4.5 using 2D-NMR methods (temperature coefficients, ${}^{3}J_{CH_{\alpha}-NH}$ coupling constants, and NOEs) reveals a fluctuating β -sheet structure proximal to the dibenzofuran-based amino acid and disorder at the N- and C-termini of the peptide.¹⁰⁴ Disorder at the termini is expected in small isolated helices and sheets. Interestingly, these peptides do not fold cooperatively as discerned from linear circular dichroism changes as a function of denaturant concentration.

In an effort to produce a dibenzofuran-nucleated β -sheet that folds cooperatively and adopts a welldefined structure we have increased the length of the linear chain to 13 residues. The sequence chosen K-V-K-V-K-V-K-V-K-NH₂ (peptide V) has a charge of +7 at pH 4.5 and as a result is not expected to fold. However, the hydrogen-bonded hydrophobic cluster composed of -V-6-V- is formed under these conditions according to the NMR and near-UV CD criteria described above. This cluster is poised and waiting to nucleate folding in the remainder of the peptide sequence once the solution conditions allow the strands to interact to form a two-stranded antiparallel β -sheet. Conditions that allow strand collapse include increasing the ionic strength or pH of the medium, which attenuate or remove respectively, the unfavorable charge-charge repulsions between the strands allowing the β -sheet to fold. Analogs of peptide V having the ϵ -amino groups of two lysine side chains trifluoroacetylated fold in a pH-independent fashion indicating that sequences having a charge density of <+5 are capable of folding. The hydrophobic cluster in peptide V is present under all types of solution conditions, even in 8 M urea solution at pH 4, indicating how robust this nucleation site is. Similar hydrophobic clusters present in the 434repressor are also stable in concentrated urea solutions and have been proposed to nucleate folding in this protein since the residues composing the cluster also interact in the folded structure.^{120,121}

After intramolecular folding, peptide V dimerizes due to its amphiphilicity and laterally self-assembles into fibrils via intermolecular β -sheet interactions between the dimers. In these systems, the intramolecular folding and self-association equilibria are linked. This has made it impossible to find solution conditions which permit folding but which disfavor self-assembly. It cannot be stated with certainty that intramolecular folding precedes self-assembly in peptide V although recent success in uncoupling folding from self-assembly by incorporating two N-methylated amino acids in place of Lys residues in peptide **V** makes this likely. Interestingly, these peptides are monomeric in aqueous solution as discerned from analytical equilibrium ultracentrifugation studies and have the spectroscopic signatures of well-defined β -sheet structures. A ¹⁵N-labeled peptide is under study using multidimensional NMR in order to fully characterize its structure which will be reported in due course. The ability to nucleate folding in α -amino acid sequences incorporating the 4-(2-aminoethyl)-6-dibenzofuran propionic acid residue (6) coupled with the ability to control the self-assembly via the incorporation of N-methylated amino acids allows for the reliable de novo design of predominantly β -sheet folds.

Other templates for β -sheet nucleation designed to replace the i + 1 and i + 2 residues of a β -turn have also been prepared in our laboratory. The 6,6'-bis-(acylamino)-2,2'-bipyridine-based amino acids are designed to promote β -sheet folding upon the addition of Cu(II) ions (Figure 20).¹⁰⁵ The design hypothesis is that in the absence of added metal ion, the peptide would exist as an ensemble of conformations most having a transoid bipyridine conformation. Upon addition of Cu(II), the ligand substructure of the amino acid would be stabilized in the cisoid conformation promoting β -sheet folding in the attached α -amino acid sequence. Two bipyridine-based amino acid residues 7 and 8 (shown below) were prepared



Figure 20. Envisioned transoid to cisoid bipyridine conformational equilibrium shift mediated by Cu(II) binding within peptides incorporating residues 7 and 8 is expected to nucleate β -sheet folding; $R = \alpha$ -amino acid side chain.

in order to evaluate their ability to nucleate β -sheet structure. The residues differ in the length of the linker intervening between the peptide attachment sites and the metal binding portion of the template. The bipyridine-based residue 8, having a $-CH_2CH_2$ fragment attaching the ligand substructure to the remainder of the peptide, was expected to promote the formation of a hydrophobic cluster when flanked by hydrophobic amino acid residues in an analogous manner to template 6 (Figure 18). It is possible that hydrophobic clustering alone or hydrophobic clustering in combination with Cu(II) binding would be sufficient for β -sheet nucleation. Residue 7 was prepared to probe the ability of metal binding alone to nucleate β -sheet folding.



6,6'-bis(acylamino)-2,2'-bipyridine-based amino acids

The bipyridine-based ligand portions of residues 7 and 8 bind Cu(II) in a square-planar geometry as discerned from X-ray crystallographic studies of model compounds 9 and 10 (Figure 21). The pK_a of the amide NH's is such that at high pH they are removed affording a neutral complex but at pH's < 6 they are retained affording a complex with a +2 charge. The distance between the benzylic carbons (~5.2 Å) in the model compounds is similar to the distance between the strands of a naturally occurring β -sheet (~4.8 Å). Therefore, residues 7 and 8 should function as effective β -sheet nucleators when incor-



Figure 21. ORTEP depictions of the crystal structures of neutral Cu(II) complex 9 and charged (+2) Cu(II) complex 10 which were designed to model the ligand substructure of peptides containing bipyridine-based residues 7 and 8 in the presence of Cu(II) under alkaline and acidic conditions, respectively. The crystal structures of the model complexes suggest that residues 7 and 8 when incorporated into peptide sequences should bind Cu(II) in a square-planar geometry effecting β -sheet structure formation in the attached peptides.

porated into appropriate α -amino acid sequences. Residues 7 and 8 were incorporated into amphiphilic sequences resulting in peptide-derivatives K-V-T-V-K-7-K-V-T-V-K-NH2 (peptide W) and K-V-T-V-K-8-V-K-V-T-V-K-NH₂ (peptide \mathbf{X}). These peptides appear to bind Cu(II) in an manner analogous to model compounds 9 and 10 as discerned from the nearly identical UV spectra of the model complexes and the peptides as a function of pH. Peptide W exists as an ensemble of unordered conformations in aqueous solution in the absence of Cu(II). However, upon the addition of Cu(II), peptide W adopts β -sheet structure indicating that residue 7 is capable of nucleating β -sheet structure upon Cu(II) binding. The behavior of peptide X, which has two carbons intervening between the ligand substructure and the amino acid functional groups, is markedly different. This peptide is capable of folding and self-associating in the absence of Cu(II). Apparently the hydrophobic cluster, which stabilizes the cisoid bipyridine conformation, is capable of nucleating folding in the absence of Cu(II). The addition of Cu(II) appears to further stabilize the β -sheet structure as determined by an increase in ellipticity at 220 nm in the far-UV CD, however this apparent increase in structure could be caused by a change in the aromatic contribution to the far-UV CD upon Cu(II) binding. Current efforts to uncouple folding from self-assembly appear successful, again using the N-methylation strategy, and will be reported in due course.

In an attempt to understand β -sheet quaternary structure formation in aqueous buffers we have designed a peptidomimetic host that binds a peptide guest affording a three-stranded β -sheet structure that self-assembles (Figure 22).¹²⁶ This system in the simplest sense mimics the binding and self-assembly properties exhibited by most receptors. The host sequence, which is composed of a 2,8-dibenzofurandiylbis(3-propanoic acid) residue flanked by α-amino acid sequences containing alternating hydrophobic and cationic residues, is selective for anionic guests having an amphiphilic periodicity of 2. The dibenzofuran diacid template was envisioned to separate the two covalently attached peptide strands by ~ 10 A on average, allowing the guest to bind between the strands of the host molecule. The C-terminal aromatic group in the peptide guest is thought to initiate the binding event allowing the hydrophobic and oppositely charged side chains of the host molecule and the guest peptide to interact resulting in an amphiphilic antiparallel β -sheet structure. When studied in isolation the host and the guest are unstructured; however, when mixed at μM concentrations the complex yields a three stranded β -sheet structure that subsequently self-assembles. In order to be certain that the host binds to the guest, prior to self-assembly, the host was covalently linked to a chromatography column and the apparent binding constant (510 μ M) was determined by high-performance affinity chromatography. Immobilizing the host on the column via an amide linkage derived from the ϵ -amino group of Lys ensures that the host-guest complex will not self-associate. The host is very selective with regard to the peptides that it is capable of binding, i.e. it does not bind to most tetrapeptides. There is a strong electrostatic component as well as significant hydrophobic component which contributes to the binding free energy as discerned from the ongoing binding studies with various guest analogs. The formation of a stable three-stranded β -sheet



Figure 22. Structure of the host molecule containing a 2,8-dibenzofurandiylbis(3-propanoic acid) residue and the guest peptide. The specificity of the binding event results from favorable hydrophobic interactions as well as electrostatic interactions resulting from the formation of the host-guest complex. After the initial binding event takes place, the complex further self-associates to form soluble β -sheet quaternary structure.

quaternary structure which does not aggregate is currently in development.

Mutter and colleagues have reported a parallel β -sheet sandwich protein using the template-assembled synthetic protein (TASP) approach described above for helical bundles. The template peptide Ac-Lys-Lys-Lys-Pro-Gly-Lys-Lys-Lys-Lys may adopt a β -hairpin conformation placing the side chains of lysines 1, 3, 8, and 10 (in bold) on the same side of the putative β -sheet structure adopted by the template. Parallel β -strand sequences Ac-Val-Lys-Val-Lys-Val-Lys-Val-Lys-were attached to the ϵ -amino groups of lysines 1, 3, 8, and 10 by solid-phase peptide synthesis affording the TASP assembled parallel β -sandwich structure shown in Figure 23.⁷⁴ This peptide undergoes a coil to sheet transition at pH 12 as discerned by the far-UV CD signature for β -sheet structure (minimum at 218 nm), however the characterization of this peptide by NMR or by ultracentrifugation has not been reported. An analogous template Ac-Lys-Lys-Lys-Pro-Gly-Lys-Lys-Lys-Lys- ϵ -6-aminohexanoic acid-OH was prepared as a scaffold for a β -barrel structure. Parallel β -strand sequences Ac-Val-Lys-Val-Lys-Val-Lys-Val-Lys- were attached to the ϵ -amino groups of all lysines in the sequence affording a putative 8-stranded β -barrel folding motif as discerned from far-UV CD and FT-IR methods at pH 10.70 Characterization of this peptide by NMR or X-ray crystallography and by





Figure 23. Schematic representation of a templateassembled synthetic protein (TASP). In this case, the folding of a parallel β -sandwich is directed via the attachment of four peptide sequences to an acyclic peptide-based template. The peptides are covalently attached at their carboxy terminus via an amide linkage to the ϵ nitrogens of template lysine side chains.

equilibrium ultracentrifugation has not been reported and is required to establish the structure of this putative β -barrel structure. A template-assembled synthetic protein composed of both a 4-helix bundle and a β -barrel-like structure has also been reported by Mutter and colleagues.⁷⁰ The four-helix bundle assembles on one face of the template and the β -sheet sandwich on the other. The monomeric nature and the far-UV CD spectrum of the peptide is consistent with the proposed structure.

Several cyclic peptides incorporating templates have been prepared to demonstrate that they are good replacements for the i + 1 and i + 2 residues of β -turns. Even though we have concentrated predominantly on acyclic peptides in this review, these templates may prove useful for the nucleation of sheet structure in acyclic peptides.¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ In addition, Gellman and Nowick have recently reported templates which are in the early stages of development that may prove useful in achieving β -sheet folding.^{130,131}

IV. Templates That Induce Other Types of Structures

A. Olson Ω -Loop

Sarabu and co-workers have employed a naphthalene-based amino acid to control the conformation of a cyclic peptide to afford an Ω -loop conformation.¹³² Interleukin-1 α (IL-1 α) is a cytokine released by macrophages and is responsible for triggering inflammatory and immunological responses by binding to the receptors on lymphocytes. Residues 41–48 of IL-1 α adopts a solvent exposed Ω -loop which was thought to play an important role in its biological activity. Several acyclic loop peptides were tested for their binding affinities to the IL-1 receptor.¹³³ However, these peptides lacked affinity for the receptor presumably due to their inability to fold into the desired bioactive conformation. A peptidomimetic which adopts the Ω -loop conformation should be an effective antagonist for the IL-1 α inflammatory response, which should have important pharamecutical implications.

Shown below is peptidomimetic 11, designed to mimic the 41–48 Ω -loop. The peptidomimetic contains a 7-(2-aminoethyl)-2-naphthalenepropanoic acid spacer group (boxed) that positions the termini of the attached sequence a distance of 10.94 Å apart. This is the approximate distance found separating the ends of the Ω -loop in IL-1 α . The three dimensional structure of 11, determined by COSY and NOESY NMR experiments in DMSO along with molecular modeling, confirmed that this peptidomimetic adopts an Ω -loop conformation, which is similar to that conformation found in IL-1 α . However, biological assays concluded that 11 was not an effective antagonist indicating that perhaps the Ω -loop of IL-1 α is not solely responsible for receptor recognition and activation.



Compound 11

V. Conclusions and Perspective

A variety of templates have been incorporated into peptides and studied as folding nucleators or are evolving in that direction. This approach looks very promising for the de novo design of proteins having a defined structure. The ability to realize the full potential of templated folding depends on our ability to determine the strengths and limitations of each template. Each templated peptide developed must be characterized as extensively as possible. Ideally each peptide should be characterized by mass spectrometry (sequence verification), by analytical equilibrium ultracentrifugation (solution molecular weight), by far- and near-UV CD as well as IR (secondary structural probe), and by NMR (identify tertiary contacts by NOEs, ${}^{3}J_{CH_{\alpha}-NH}$ coupling constants characteristic of the ϕ angles as well as employing amide exchange data and temperature coefficients which evaluate hydrogen bonding) and/ or if possible by X-ray crystallography. From our perspective the challenges in this endeavor are to rigorously characterize each system prepared and to design evolved tertiary structures that achieve defined packing arrangements as opposed to molten globule-type structures. The most difficult challenge ahead is to design templated proteins that possess tertiary structures with defined enzymatic activity, which is what the evolution of this approach combined with advances in diversity generation and screening should allow.

Acknowledgments. We thank the National Institutes of Health R01 GM 51105 (J.W.K.) and T32 GM 08523 (J.P.S.) as well as the Camille-Dreyfus and Searle Scholars program for financial support of our work.

VI. References

- Dill, K. A. Biochemistry **1990**, 29, 7133.
 Freidinger, R. M.; Veber, D. F.; Perlow, D. S.; Brooks, J. R.; Saperstein, R. Science **1980**, 210, 656.
- Veber, D. F.; Strachan, R. G.; Bergstrand, S. J.; Holly, F. W.; Homnick, C. F.; Hirschmann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, (3)2367.
- (4) Hölzemann, G. Kontakte (Darmstadt) 1991, 1, 3
- (5) Hölzemann, G. Kontakte (Darmstadt) 1991, 2, 55.
- (6) Kahn, M. Synlett 1993, 821
- (7) Kemp, D. S. *TIBTECH* 1990, *8*, 249.
 (8) Olson, G. L.; Bolin, D. R.; Bonner, M. P.; Bös, M.; Cook, C. M.; (a) Oboli, O. L., Bohn, D. R., Bohner, M. T., Bos, M., Cow, C. M., Fry, D. C.; Graves, B. J.; Hatada, M.; Hill, D. E.; Kahn, M.; Madison, V. S.; Rusiecki, V. K.; Sarabu, R.; Sepinwall, J.; Vincent, J. P.; Voss, M. E. J. Med. Chem. **1993**, 36, 3039.
 (9) Hirschmann, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1991**, 30, 1278.
- (10) Marquesee, S.; Baldwin, R. L. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1987, 84, 8898
- (11) Chorev, M.; Roubini, E.; McKee, R. L.; Gibbons, S. W.; Goldman, M. E.; Cauldfield, M. P.; Rosenblatt, M. Biochemistry 1991, 30, 5968.
- (12) Pease, H. B.; Storrs, R. W.; Wemmer, D. E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1990, 87, 5643.
- Jackson, D. Y.; King, D. S.; Chmielewski, J.; Singh, S.; Schultz, (13)P. G. J. An. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9391.
 (14) Albert, J. S.; Goodman, M. S.; Hamilton, A. D. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 1995, 117, 1143.
- (15) Albert, J. S.; Hamilton, A. D. Biochemistry 1995, 34, 984.
- (16) Kaiser, E. T. Trends in Biochem. Sci. 1987, 12, 305.
 (17) Taylor, J. T.; Kaiser, E. T. Methods Enzymol. 1987, 154, 473. (18) Lyu, P. C.; Liff, M. I.; Marky, L. A.; Kallenbach, N. R. Science
- 1990, 250, 669. (19)
- Lyu, P. C.; Zhou, H. X.; Jelveh, N.; Wemmer, D. E.; Kallenbach, N. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6560.
- (20) Scholtz, J. M.; Baldwin, R. L. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 1992, 21, 95
- (21) Shoemaker, K. R.; Baldwin, R. L.; Kim, P. S.; Stewart, J. M.; York, E. J. Nature 1987, 326, 563
- (22) Harbury, P. B.; Zhang, T.; Kim, P. S.; Alber, T. Science 1993, 262, 1401.
- (23) Betz, S. F.; Raliegh, D. P.; DeGrado, W. F. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1993, 3, 601
- (24) Handel, T. M.; Williams, S. A.; DeGrado, W. F. Science 1993, 261, 879.
- (25) Lovejoy, B.; Choe, S.; Casico, D.; McRorie, D. K.; DeGrado, W. F.; Eisenberg, D. Science 1993, 259, 1288.
 (26) Raliegh, D. P.; DeGrado, W. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114,
- $1007\bar{9}$
- (27) O'Shea, E. K.; Klemm, J. D.; Kim, P. S.; Alber, T. Science 1991, 254.539.
- (28) Presta, L. G.; Rose, G. D. Science 1988, 240, 1632.
- (29) Sasaki, T.; Kaiser, E. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 380.
 (30) Sasaki, T.; Kaiser, E. T. Biopolymers 1990, 29, 79.
- (31) Ahmad, F.; Bigelow, C. C. Biopolymers 1986, 25, 1623.
- (32) Ferraiolo, B. L.; Onady, G. M.; Mieyal, J. J. Biochemistry 1984. 23. 5528
- (33) Kokubo, T.; Sassa, S.; Kaiser, E. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109,606
- (34) Akerfeldt, K. S.; Kim, R. M.; Camac, D.; Groves, J. T.; Lear, J. D.; DeGrado, W. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9656.
 (35) DeGrado, W. F.; Lear, J. D. Biopolymers 1990, 29, 205.
- (36) Mihara, H.; Nishino, N.; Hasegawa, R.; Fujimoto, T. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1805
- (37) Pantoliano, M. W.; Poulos, T. L.; Rollence, M. L.; Gilliland, G. L.; Wood, J. F.; Whitlow, M.; Finzel, B. C.; Bryan, P. N. Biochemistry 1988, 27, 8311
- (38) Arnold, F. H.; Haymore, B. L. Science 1991, 252, 1796.
 (39) Regan, L.; Clarke, N. D. Biochemistry 1990, 29, 10879.
- (40) Lowry, C. L.; Megeehan, G.; Levine, H. Proteins: Struct., Funct., and Genet. 1992, 12, 42. (41) Muheim, A.; Todd, R. J.; Casimiro, D. R.; Gray, H. B.; Arnold, F. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5312.
- (42) Shullenberger, D. F.; Eason, P. D.; Long, E. C. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 1993, 115, 11038. (43) Shullenberger, D. F.; Long, E. C. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1993,
- 3, 333.
- (44) Sasaki, T.; Sakai, S. J. Syn. Org. Chem. Jpn. 1994, 52, 381.
- (45) Arnold, F. H.; Zhang, J. H. Trends Biotechnol. 1994, 12, 189.
 (46) Ghadiri, M. R.; Choi, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1630.
- (47) Ghadiri, M. R.; Fernolz, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 9633.

- (48) Todd, R. J.; Vandam, M. E.; Casimiro, D.; Haymore, B. L.; Arnold, F. H. Proteins: Struct., Funct., And Genet. 1991, 10, 156.
 (49) Suh, S. S.; Haymore, B. L.; Arnold, F. H. Protein Eng. 1991, 4, Contemport of the structure of the structure
- 301 (50) Kellis, J. T.; Todd, R. J.; Arnold, F. H. Bio/Technology 1991, 9,
- 994.
- (51) Handel, T.; DeGrado, W. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6710.
 (52) Krizek, B. A.; Amann, B. T.; Kilfoil, V. J.; Merkle, D. L.; Berg,
- J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, 113, 4518. (53) Michael, S. F.; Kilfoil, V. J.; Schmidt, M. H.; Amann, B. T.; Berg, J. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1992, 89, 4796.
- Krizek, B. A.; Merkle, D. L.; Berg, J. M. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, (54)937
- (55) Robertson, D. E.; Farid, R. S.; Moser, C. C.; Urbauer, J. L.; Mulholland, S. E.; Pidikiti, R.; Lear, J. D.; Wand, A. J.; DeGrado, W. F.; Dutton, P. L. Nature 1994, 368, 425.
- Choma, C. T.; Lear, J. D.; Nelson, M. J.; Dutton, P. L.; Robertson, D. E.; DeGrado, W. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, *116*, 856. (56)
- Ruan, F.; Chen, Y.; Hopkins, P. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, (57)9403.
- Ruan, F.; Chen, Y.; Itoh, K.; Sasaki, T.; Hopkins, P. B. J. Org. (58)Chem. 1991, 56, 4347.
- Creighton, T. E. Proteins: Structures and Molecular Properties, 2nd ed.; W. H. Freeman and Company: New York City, 1993; (59)pp 507.
- (60) Ghadiri, M. R.; Soares, C.; Choi, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4000.
- (61) Ghadiri, M. R.; Soares, C.; Choi, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 825.
- (62) Lieberman, M.; Sasaki, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 1470.
- (63) Sasaki, T.; Lieberman, M. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 3677.
- Lieberman, M.; Tabet, M.; Sasaki, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, (64)116, 5035
- Ghadiri, M. R.; Case, M. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, (65) 32, 1594
- (66) Gray, H. B.; Solomon, E. I. Met. Ions Biol. Syst. 1981, 3, 1.
 (67) Mihara, H.; Nishino, N.; Fujimoto, T. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1809.
 (68) Mihara, H.; Nishino, N.; Hasegawa, R.; Fujimoto, T.; Usui, S.;
- Ishida, H.; Ohkubo, K. Chem. Lett. **1992**, 1813. Mutter, M.; Altmann, E.; Altmann, K. H.; Hersperger, R.; Koziej, (69)P.; Nebel, K.; Tuchscherer, G. G.; Vuilleumier, S. Helv. Chim. Acta 1988, 71, 835.
- (70) Mutter, M. Trends Biochem. Sci. 1988, 13, 260
- (71) Mutter, M.; Altmann, K. H. Angew. Makromol. Chem. 1986, 145/ 146, 211
- (72) Floegel, R.; Mutter, M. Biopolymers 1992, 32, 1283.
- (73) Mutter, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1985, 24, 639.
 (74) Mutter, M.; Vuilleumier, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1989, 28.535
- (75) Mutter, M.; Tuchscherer, G. G. Makromol. Chem. Rapid Commun. 1988, 9, 437. Mutter, M.; Altmann, K. H.; Tuchscherer, G. G.; Vuilleumier,
- (76)S. Tetrahedron **1988**, 44, 771. (77) Mutter, M.; Hersperger, R.; Gubernator, K.; Muller, K. Proteins:
- Struct. Funct. Genet. 1989, 5, 13. Montal, M.; Montal, M. S.; Tomich, J. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.
- (78)
- Multar, M., Hustar, M. S., Johnson, J. S., Multar, M., Burn, M., 1990, 87, 6929.
 Tuchscherer, G. G.; Servis, C.; Corradin, G.; Blum, U.; Rivier, J.; Mutter, M. Protein Sci. 1992, 1, 1377.
 Tuchscherer, G. G.; Domer, B.; Sila, U.; Kamber, B.; Mutter, M. (79)
- (80)Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 3559.
 (81) Altmann, K. H.; Mutter, M. Int. J. Biochem. 1990, 22, 947.
- Grove, A.; Mutter, M.; Rivier, J. E.; Montal, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5919. (82)
- (83) Mutter, M.; Tuchscherer, G. G.; Miller, C.; Altmann, K. H.; Carey, R. I.; Wyss, D. F.; Labhardt, A. M.; Rivier, J. E. J. Am.
- Chen, Soc. 1992, 114, 1463.
 (84) Ernest, I.; Kalvoda, J.; Sigel, C.; Rihs, G.; Fritz, H.; Blommers, M. J. J.; Raschdorf, F.; Francotte, E.; Mutter, M. Helv. Chim. Acta 1993, 76, 1539.
- (85) Tuchscherer, G. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 8419.
 (86) Ernest, I.; Vuilleumier, S.; Fritz, H.; Mutter, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4015.
- (87) Vuilleumier, S.; Mutter, M. Biopolymers 1993, 33, 389.
- Grove, A.; Tomich, J.; Montal, M. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. (88)1991, 88, 6418.

- Chemical Reviews, 1995, Vol. 95, No. 6 2187
- (89) Kemp, D. S.; Curran, T. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 4931.
- (90) McClure, K. F.; Renold, P.; Kemp, D. S. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 454
- (91) Kemp, D. S.; Curran, T. P.; Davis, W. M.; Boyd, J. G.; Muendel, C. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6672. (92) Kemp, D. S.; Curran, T. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 4935.
- (93) Kemp, D. S.; Curran, T. P.; Boyd, J. G.; Allen, T. J. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6683.
- (94)Poland, D.; Scheraga, H. A. Theory of Helix-Coil Transitions in Biopolymers; Academic: New York, 1970.
- (95) Kemp, D. S.; Boyd, J. G.; Muendel, C. C. Nature 1991, 352, 451.
- (96) Scheraga, H. A. Pure Appl. Chem. 1978, 50, 315.
- (97) Arrhenius, T.; Satterthwait, A. C. Proc. Am. Peptide Symp. 1990, 11, 870. See also: Proc. Eur. Peptide Symp. 1991 21, 465; Proc. Chin. Peptide Symp. 1993, 204.
- Dyson, H. J.; Sayre, J. R.; Merutka, G.; Shin, H. C.; Lerner, R. A.; Wright, P. E. J. Mol. Biol. **1992**, 226, 819. (98)
- Rose, G. D.; Gierasch, L. M.; Smith, J. A. Adv. Protein Chem. (99)1985, 37, 1.
- (100) Rizo, J.; Gierasch, L. M. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1992, 61, 387.
- (101) Sibanda, B. L.; Thorton, J. M. Nature 1985, 316, 170.
- (102) Wilmot, C. M.; Thorton, J. M. J. Mol. Biol. 1988, 203, 221
- (103) Haque, T. S.; Little, J. C.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4105.
- Tsang, K. Y.; Diaz, H.; Graciani, N.; Kelly, J. W. J. Am. Chem. (104)Soc. 1994, 116, 3988.
- Schneider, J. P.; Kelly, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2533. (105)
- (106) Kim, C. A.; Berg, J. M. Nature 1993, 362, 267
- (107) Minor, D. L.; Kim, P. S. Nature 1994, 367, 660.
 (108) Smith, C. K.; Withka, J. M.; Regan, L. Biochemistry 1994, 33, 5510.
- (109) Minor, D. L.; Kim, P. S. Nature 1994, 371, 264
- (110) Goto, Y.; Hamaguchhi, K. J. Mol. Biol. 1982, 156, 891.
- (111) Ropson, I. J.; Gordon, J. I.; Freiden, C. Biochemistry 1990, 29, 4951
- (112) Rudolf, R.; Siebendritt, R.; Nesslauer, G.; Sharma, A. K.; Jaenicke, R. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1990, 87, 8063.
- (113) Varley, P.; Gronenborn, A. M.; Christensen, H.; Wingfield, P. T.; Pain, R. H.; Clore, G. M. Science **1993**, 260, 1110.
- (114) Finkelstein, A. V. Proteins: Struct., Funct., Genet. 1991, 9, 23.
- (115) Liu, Z.-H.; Rizo, J.; Gierasch, L. M. Biochemistry 1994, 33, 134.

- (116) Kemp, D. S.; Bowen, B. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 5081.
 (117) Kemp, D. S.; Bowen, B. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 5077.
 (118) Kemp, D. S.; Bowen, B. R.; Muendel, C. C. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 4650.
- (119) Kautz, R.; Blanchard, D. E.; Flippen-Anderson, J. L.; Kemp, D. S. Personal communication.
- (120) Garvey, E. P.; Swank, J.; Matthews, C. R. Proteins 1989, 6, 259.
- (121) Neri, D.; Billeter, G.; Wider, G.; Wuthrich, K. Science 1992, 257, 1559
- (122) Diaz, H.; Tsang, K. Y.; Choo, D.; Kelly, J. W. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 3533.
- (123) Diaz, H.; Espina, J. R.; Kelly, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8316.
- (124) Diaz, H.; Kelly, J. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 5725.
- Graciani, N. R.; Tsang, K. Y.; McCutchen, S. L.; Kelly, J. W. Biorg. Med. Chem. 1994, 2, 999. (125)
- (126) LaBrenz, S. R.; Kelly, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1655.
 (127) Brandmeier, V.; Feigel, M. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 1365.
- (128) Brandmeier, V.; Sauer, W. H. B.; Feigel, M. Helv. Chim. Acta 1994, 77, 70.
- (129) Sato, K.; Nagai, U. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1986, 1231. (130) Gardner, R. R.; Liang, G. B.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- 1995, 117, 3280. (131) Nowick, J. S.; Powell, N. A.; Martinez, E. J.; Smith, E. M.;
- Noronha, G. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 3763.
 (132) Sarabu, R.; Lovey, K.; Madison, V. S.; Fry, D. C.; Greeley, D. N.; Cook, C. M.; Olson, G. L. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 3629.
- (133) Joss, U. R.; Schmidli, I.; Vosbeck, K. J. Receptor Res. 1991, 11,
- 275.
- (134) Austin, R. E.; Liu, K.; Maplestore, R.; Bartlett, P. A. Personal communication.

CR941112+